
Meeting Cabinet (Housing) Committee

Date and Time Wednesday, 20th March, 2019 at 4.00 pm.

Venue Walton Suite, Guildhall, Winchester

AGENDA

PROCEDURAL ITEMS 

1.  Apologies 
To record the names of apologies given.

2.  Disclosure of Interests 
To receive any disclosure of interests from Members and Officers in matters to 
be discussed.
Note: Councillors are reminded of their obligations to declare disclosable 
pecuniary interests, personal and/or prejudicial interests in accordance 
with legislation and the Council’s Code of Conduct.

3.  Minutes of the previous meeting held on 30 January 2019 (Pages 5 - 10)

4.  To note any request from Councillors to make representations on an 
agenda item under Council Procedure Rule 35. 
Note: Councillors wishing to speak about a particular agenda item are 
requested to advise the Democratic Services Officer before the meeting.  
Councillors will normally be invited by the Chairman to speak immediately prior 
to the appropriate item.

5.  Public Participation 
– to receive and note questions asked and statements made from members 
of the public on issues relating to the responsibility of this Committee (see 
note overleaf).

BUSINESS ITEMS 

6.  Final Business Approval – The Valley, New Homes Development (less 
exempt appendices) (Pages 11 - 16)

Key Decision (CAB3112(HSG))

Public Document Pack



7.  Winchester City Council Self Build and Custom Build Register (Pages 17 - 
22)

(CAB3141(HSG))

8.  Establishing the Winchester Housing Company (less exempt appendices) 
(Pages 23 - 66)

Key Decision (CAB3139(HSG))

9.  EXEMPT BUSINESS: 
To consider whether in all the circumstances of the case the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information.

(i) To pass a resolution that the public be excluded from the meeting 
during the consideration of the following items of business because it is 
likely that, if members of the public were present, there would be 
disclosure to them of ‘exempt information’ as defined by Section 100 (I) 
and Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972.

10.  Hookpit Farm, Kings Worthy – New Homes Scheme (Pages 67 - 80)
Key Decision (CAB3147(HSG))

11.  Final Business Approval – The Valley, New Homes Development 
(exempt appendices) (Pages 81 - 96)
Key Decision (CAB3112(HSG))

12.  Establishing the Winchester Housing Company (exempt appendices) 
(Pages 97 - 126)
Key Decision (CAB3139(HSG))

L Hall
Head of Legal Services (Interim)

Members of the public are able to easily access all of the papers 
for this meeting by opening the QR Code reader on your phone 
or tablet. Hold your device over the QR Code below so that it's 
clearly visible within your screen and you will be redirected to the 
agenda pack.

12 March 2019
Agenda Contact: Nancy Graham, Senior Democratic Services Officer
Tel: 01962 848235   Email: ngraham@winchester.gov.uk



Membership 2018/19

Chairman: Horrill (The Leader with Portfiolo for Housing)
Brook
Miller

Deputy: Ashton

Non-Voting Invited representatives

Councillors Berry, Izard, Power and Scott, McLean (Non-voting Deputy)

TACT representatives 

Mr M Fawcitt and Mrs M Gill, Mrs S Down (Non-elected, Non- voting Deputy)

In the event of any of the standing or deputy or deputy member not being available 
for a particular meeting, another member of Cabinet will be selected in alphabetical 
rotation by the Legal Services Manager to substitute for the standing member.

Quorum = 3 members

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
Public Participation is at the Chairman’s discretion.  If your question relates to an 
item on the agenda, you will normally be asked to speak at the time of the relevant 
item.  Representations will be limited to a maximum of 3 minutes, subject to a 
maximum 15 minutes set aside for all questions and answers.  If several people wish 
to speak on the same subject, the Chairman may ask for one person to speak on 
everyone's behalf.  As time is limited, a "first come first served" basis will be 
operated. 

To reserve your place to speak, you are asked to arrive no later than 10 minutes 
before the start of the meeting to register your intention to speak.  Please contact the 
Democratic Services Officer in advance for further details.

The names of members of the public etc  who have registered to address committee 
meetings will appear in the minutes as part of the public record, which will include on 
the Council’s website.  Those wishing to address a committee meeting who object to 
their names being made available in this way must notify the Democratic Services 
Officer either when registering to speak, or within 10 days of this meeting.

DISABLED ACCESS:
Disabled access is normally available, but please phone Democratic Services on 
01962 848 264 or email democracy@winchester.gov.uk to ensure that the necessary 
arrangements are in place.

TERMS OF REFERENCE
Included within the Council’s Constitution (Part 3, Section 2) which is available here

http://www.winchester.gov.uk/assets/attach/11853/Part%203a%20-%20Resp%20for%20functions--170518%20-NGchangesfromCabinet1.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



1

CABINET (HOUSING) COMMITTEE

Wednesday, 30 January 2019
Attendance:

Councillors:

Ashton (Chairman for the meeting) 

Brook Godfrey

Other Invited Councillors:

Berry Scott
Power

TACT:

Mr M Fawcitt
Mrs M Gill

Deputies in attendance:

Councillors Ashton (deputy for Councillor Horrill) and Godfrey (deputy for 
Councillor Miller)

Apologies:

Councillors Horrill and Miller
Councillor Izard

1.   ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN FOR THE MEETING 

RESOLVED:

That, in the absence of Councillor Horrill, Councillor Ashton be 
elected Chairman for the meeting.

2.   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING HELD ON 21 NOVEMBER  2018 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the Cabinet (Housing) Committee held 21 
November 2018 be approved and adopted.

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2

3.   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

Ian Tait spoke regarding Report CAB3111(HSG) as summarised under the 
relevant minute below.

4.   HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA) BUDGET 2019/20 & BUSINESS PLAN 
(CAB3111(HSG))

Ian Tait addressed the Committee during public participation.  In summary, he 
requested clarification of the strategic land purchases referred to in the report as 
he believed that the Council should be seeking to purchase land for the purpose 
of building more affordable housing.  In addition, he requested further details 
about the reference to care provision in relation to Barton Farm in the Business 
Plan.

The Strategic Director - Services (Interim) and Head of Housing Finance 
introduced the report and responded to Members’ questions as summarised 
below.

In response to comments made by Mr Tait, the Strategic Director explained that 
the Government’s removal of the debt cap removed the requirement for the bid 
for additional headline borrowing referred to in the report.  At the current time, 
the Council did not have any specific proposals to purchase land but this was the 
intention in the future, subject to being able to demonstrate affordability and 
prudential borrowing.  

The Strategic Director advised that the report had been considered by The 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on 28 January 2019 where 
Members had generally supported its contents, but had raised a number of 
matters they believed required further attention:

 Increase in cost of voids;
 Future use of garages and implications on availability of storage;
 Requirement for rural housing.

In response to a query raised by Members of The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, the Strategic Director confirmed that the Council had built more new 
homes than had been sold under “right to buy” since 2012  and full details could 
be made available to Members.

The Head of Housing Finance highlighted that the report demonstrated that the 
Council could deliver 1000 new housing units over the next 10 years.  It also set 
aside additional funding for fire safety and to mitigate the impact of the roll out of 
universal credit.  He advised Members of a minor amendment required to the 
Capital Programme Funding table contained as Appendix 5 of the report as 
follows:
2018/19 Forecast column:

 HRA Revenue Contributions to Capital - £2.343m (not £2.839m)
 Major Repairs Reserve - £4.687m (not £4.191m)

Page 6



3

On behalf of TACT, Monica Gill supported the report and thanked the Head of 
Housing Finance for attending a recent meeting of TACT to present its contents.

In response to questions, the Strategic Director acknowledged that building new 
homes on Council owned land was likely to offer best value.  However, it was 
possible to achieve good value on private land purchased by the Council and the 
Council would be examining different options to achieve this, for example 
including a mix of tenures.  The Strategic Director clarified that the target to 
provide 1000 new affordable homes by 2029 replaced the previous target to 
provide 600 new homes by 2020.  

The Strategic Director confirmed that the proposed housing numbers had been 
discussed with Officers in the Local Plan team who were content with its fitting 
with other housing targets within the Plan.  The exact mix of housing was likely 
to be a mixture of affordable housing (ie 70-80% rent levels) and shared 
ownership.  Housing for social rent was not currently provided for within the 
Business Plan but could be a matter for future discussion should Members wish.

During discussion, there was some debate amongst Members about 
encouraging parish councils to support additional affordable homes in rural 
areas.  However, it was recognised that parish councils were broadly supportive 
but it was sometimes difficult to persuade local residents of the requirements.

In general, Members welcomed the report and commended Officers for the work 
involved in producing.

The Committee agreed to the following for the reasons outlined above and set 
out in the report.

RECOMMENDED to Cabinet:

That it be recommended to Council:

1. That the 2019/20 Housing Revenue Account budget and 
final forecast for 2018/19 as detailed in Appendices 1 and 2 to the 
report be approved.

2. That the HRA Capital Programme for 2018/19 to 2028/29, 
as set out in Appendix 3 & 4 to the report, be approved.

3. That the proposed fire safety provision of £1m in 
2019/20 identified in 11.5 be approved.

4. That in 2019/20, the HRA continues to include a 
provision of £100k to mitigate against the impact of the universal 
credit rollout throughout the district.

5. That authority be given to incur capital expenditure in 
2019/20 of £9.046m for the Maintenance, Improvement and Renewal 
programme as detailed in Appendix 3 of the report, in accordance 
with Financial Procedure Rule 6.4 (noting that within this, for any 

Page 7



4

schemes in excess of £100,000, a financial appraisal will be 
approved in accordance with the scheme of delegations), be 
approved.

6. That authority be given to incur capital expenditure in 
2019/20 of £22.407m for the New Build programme as detailed in 
Appendix 4 of the report, in accordance with Financial Procedure 
Rule 6.4 (noting that within this, for any schemes in excess of 
£100,000, a financial appraisal will be approved in accordance with 
the scheme of delegations), be approved.

7. That the proposed funding for the HRA Capital 
Programme as detailed in Appendix 5, including the additional 
borrowing requirement, be approved. 

8. That the HRA Business Plan operating account extract, 
including annual working balances as detailed in Appendix 6, be 
approved.

RESOLVED:

9. That delegated authority be given to the Corporate Head of 
Housing, in consultation with the Strategic Director (Resources), Leader 
and Portfolio Holder for Housing Services,  to make adjustments to the 
overall Maintenance, Improvement and Renewal programme as set out in 
Appendix 3 to the report, including the flexibility to substitute projects and 
re-balance expenditure within and between the different 
elements/schemes in order to meet operational needs, changing priorities 
and commitment targets, with any changes being reported to Committee 
at the earliest opportunity.

5.   TENANCY STRATEGY UPDATE 
(CAB3113(HSG))

The Strategic Director: Services (Interim) and Head of Housing Options & 
Allocations (Interim) introduced the Report and emphasised it was a refresh of 
the previously agreed Strategy.  It was also noted that Registered Providers also 
refer to the Strategy.

On behalf of TACT, Monica Gill supported the report and thanked the Head of 
Housing Options & Allocations (Interim) for attending a recent meeting of TACT 
to present its contents.

The Committee agreed to the following for the reasons outlined above and set 
out in the report.

RESOLVED:

That the Tenancy Strategy be approved, as attached as Appendix 
1 to the report.

Page 8



5

6.   TENANCY POLICY 
(CAB3114(HSG))

The Strategic Director: Services (Interim) and Head of Housing Management 
introduced the report and responded to questions as summarised below.

On behalf of TACT, Monica Gill supported the report and thanked the Head of 
Housing Management for attending a recent meeting of TACT to present its 
contents.  She welcomed the decision not to introduce either flexible fixed term 
tenancies or “pay to stay” provisions.

The Head of Housing Management confirmed that the Council had an incentive 
scheme to encourage tenants to downsize and approximately 50 households 
took this option each year.  The Council would continue to work with TACT to 
promote the downsizing option in order to free up larger homes.  The Strategic 
Director: Services advised that the provision of new alternative smaller dwellings 
was an important consideration for the Council in deciding on its new affordable 
home provision.  

The Committee agreed to the following for the reasons outlined above and set 
out in the report.

RESOLVED:

That the Tenancy Policy 2018-2023 be approved as set out in 
Appendix 1 of the report.

7.   RENTAL EXCHANGE INITIATIVE 
(CAB3115(HSG))

The Strategic Director: Services (Interim) and Income Services Manager 
introduced the report and responded to questions as summarised below.

On behalf of TACT, Michael Fawcitt supported the report and thanked the 
Income Services Manager for attending a recent meeting of TACT to present its 
contents.

The Income Services Manager confirmed that Experian do have the highest level 
of data security.  A tenant would have to be at least two months in arrears before 
it was flagged up on the Rental Exchange system but tenants in arrears would 
not be automatically excluded.  The Strategic Director emphasised that the 
Council had a robust approach to arrears with tenants being contacted at an 
early stage.  

The Income Services Manager confirmed that tenants would automatically be 
enrolled into the scheme unless they decided to opt out.  Officers would work 
with the Council’s Communications Team to maximise awareness amongst 
tenants. 

The Committee agreed to the following for the reasons outlined above and set 
out in the report.

Page 9



6

RESOLVED:

1. That the Council’s Housing Services participate in the 
Rental Exchange.

2. That the Council set up a regular data feed with Experian as 
managers of the Rental Exchange thereby improving the housing 
circumstances of vulnerable and excluded households and supporting our 
residents with the impact of welfare reform.

8.   TENANT INVOLVEMENT - APPRECIATION AND INCENTIVE SCHEME 
(CAB3110(HSG))

The Strategic Director: Services (Interim) and Head of Housing Policy and 
Projects introduced the report and responded to questions as summarised 
below.

The Head of Housing Policy and Projects emphasised that the Council continued 
to appreciate the input from TACT, but the scheme was intended to encourage 
other tenants, including those from younger households to participate in 
consultation.  In response to concerns that tenants who were not able to access 
the internet would be excluded, she confirmed that in most cases, digital surveys 
would be used in addition to other methods of consultation.  Similarly, the Digital 
Readers’ Panel would operate alongside the existing Readers’ Panel.

On behalf of TACT, Michael Fawcitt supported the report and thanked the Head 
of Housing Policy and Projects for attending a recent meeting of TACT to 
present its contents.

The Committee agreed to the following for the reasons outlined above and set 
out in the report.

RESOLVED:

That the incentive scheme be approved as set out in the report.

The meeting commenced at 4.30 pm and concluded at 5.50 pm

Chairman

Page 10



CAB3112(HSG)
CABINET (HOUSING) COMMITTEE

REPORT TITLE: FINAL BUSINESS APPROVAL – THE VALLEY, NEW HOMES 
DEVELOPMENT

20 MARCH 2019

REPORT OF PORTFOLIO HOLDER: LEADER WITH PORTFOLIO FOR HOUSING 

Contact Officer:  Andrew Palmer    Tel No: 01962 848293 Email 
apalmer@winchester.gov.uk 

WARD(S):  ST LUKES

PURPOSE

In October 2017, the Council approved the business case for the development of a 
77 home scheme at the Valley in Stanmore.

This report sets out progress and the outcome of the recent procurement process.  It 
seeks authorisation to proceed with The Valley new homes scheme and enter into a 
building contract with Galliford Try Building Ltd to construct the 77 properties.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

1. That the Corporate Head of Housing be authorised to enter into a design and 
build contract to construct 77 properties at The Valley, Winchester with 
Galliford Try Building Ltd for the sum as detailed in exempt appendix 1.

2. That in accordance with Financial Procedure Rule 6.4, capital expenditure of 
up to £18,931,151, including contingency funding and estimated fees as set 
out in exempt appendix 2 be approved. 

3. That the Corporate Head of Asset Management be authorised to negotiate 
and agree terms for easements, wayleaves and related agreements with utility 
suppliers, telecom/media providers and neighbours in order to facilitate the 
development. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



CAB3112(HSG)

IMPLICATIONS:

1 COUNCIL STRATEGY OUTCOME 

1.1 This scheme supports Delivering quality housing options – the scheme will 
provide a mix of affordable rented and shared ownership properties for the 
District’s residents

2 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

2.1 The scheme has a total cost of £18,931,151. The scheme has attracted 
external subsidy of £3,003,000 from Homes England and has a total net cost 
to the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) of £16,769,151 (excluding Homes 
England Grant).  Provision for funding has been included in the HRA new 
build capital programme 2019/20.  Financial details are set out in the 
Supporting Information section of the report.

2.2 Whilst development costs are high, the viability assessment indicates a 
positive net present value of £169,741,at year 39 and a net scheme cost as a 
percentage of market value of 91.3% .  

3 LEGAL AND PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 The scheme was procured using a two-stage design and build tender process 
through the Southern Construction Framework (approved via CAB2973 
(HSG)). 

4 WORKFORCE IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 None – within existing Business Plan objectives

5 PROPERTY AND ASSET IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The proposed scheme provides 77 new affordable homes on land within the 
Council’s ownership. 

6 CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION 

6.1 Two main consultation events were held with the local community during 2016 
where comments helped inform the design process prior to the submission of 
the planning application. A separate drop-in event was held during the same 
period for residents of the elderly persons’ scheme opposite the site. 

7 ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS

7.1 The scheme was granted planning consent in July 2017 following the 
submission of detailed information on the issues of ecology, traffic 
implications and sustainability. All of the homes meet current planning 
guidelines on energy and water sustainability. 

Page 12



CAB3112(HSG)

8 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSEMENT 

8.1 none

9 DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

9.1 none

10 RISK MANAGEMENT 

10.1 The principal risk identified through the detailed design process is the issue of 
ground conditions, particularly as the majority of the development will be on a 
sloping site. This has been mitigated through the Contractor accepting the 
below ground risks of the project within the tender proposals. 

Risk Mitigation Opportunities
Property
Sub surface issues

Contractor has accepted 
all sub-surface 
construction risks

Contract sum could have 
been reduced if Council 
accepted sub-surface risks 

Community Support Planning consent granted 
with minimal public 
objection

Timescales – Start on site 
delayed

Detailed design work and 
discharge of planning 
conditions before contract 
award. Design and Build 
contract to be drafted 
ready to sign following 
Cabinet approval

Project capacity Staff resources allocated 
Financial / VfM
Scheme viability

Two-Stage Design & Build 
contract approach should 
assist in reducing 
unforeseen costs by 
transferring risk to the 
contractor 

Legal Full title search was 
carried out at the project 
inception stage and advice 
on procurement issues 
obtained

Innovation Standard brick and block 
construction to be used

Reputation
Other

Page 13



CAB3112(HSG)

11 SUPPORTING INFORMATION:

11.1 Cabinet approved the outline business case for The Valley new build scheme 
in October 2017 as well as the two-stage design and build contract route for 
the procurement of the building contract for the 77 homes

11.2 Full planning consent was granted for 67 dwellings with a further 10 approved  
with outline consent in July 2017, the reason being that the final details of this 
element of the scheme were being negotiated with third party land owners 
who are investigating development options on their land. The overall scheme 
mix is now:-

(i) 32 x 1 bed rented flats

(ii) 7 x 2 bed rented flats

(iii) 23 x 2 bed shared ownership flats

(iv) 11 x 2 bed rented houses

(v) 2 x 4 bed rented houses

(vi) 1 x 3 bed rented flat

(vii) 1 x 3 bed rented bungalow.

11.3 The Council engaged the services of Selway Joyce Limited, Chartered 
Surveyors, as its Employer’s Agent and Quantity Surveyor for the scheme. 
They were instructed to provide procurement options advice to help determine 
the most effective and efficient approach to tendering for this particular 
project. The final selection of the two-stage tender procurement route took 
into account the constraints and objectives of the project

11.4 Having recommended a two-stage approach, Selway Joyce Limited looked at 
potential OJEU (Official Journal of the European Union) compliant 
Frameworks that the Council could use to tender for the work. Previously the 
Council has used both the HCA DPP2 Framework (for Extra Care scheme) 
and the Westworks Framework. Having conducted enquiries into potential 
Frameworks and their ability to use a two-stage approach, they recommended 
using the Southern Construction Framework (SCF). As part of the analysis, 
they made enquiries with the contractors on the Framework to see what their 
appetite for the project was, and received positive feedback

11.5 The tender was subsequently undertaken as part of the two-stage tender 
process through the Southern Construction Framework and the successful 
contractor, Drew Smith Limited, part of the Galliford Try Group were 
contracted under the Pre-Construction Services Agreement to complete RIBA 
Stage 4 design, draft the Contractor’s proposals and obtain competitive trade 
tenders. They were tasked with inviting a number of trade contractors to 
secure a minimum of three competitive subcontracts for each trade to 

Page 14



CAB3112(HSG)

incorporate into the Contract Sum Analysis to provide a Contract Sum that 
they would enter into via  a JCT Design and Build contract.

11.6 The Council’s appointed Employer’s Agent, Selway Joyce Ltd, reviewed the 
submission and scrutinised the trade package returns and other costs to 
agree a contract sum to recommend to the Council. The initial contract sum 
received in early December was significantly above the estimated contract 
sum. Following examination and negotiation by Selway Joyce Ltd, the 
contract sum was reduced. The principal savings were achieved by working 
with individual sub-contractors whose trade packages were the most costly, 
reviewing designs and seeking greater efficiencies.   

11.7 The total scheme cost is £18,931,151, including pre and post-contract fees 
and design contingency. The full Tender Report from Selway Joyce Ltd can 
be found at exempt appendix 1. 

12 Funding

12.1 Homes England has provided a grant of £3,003,000, which was based on the 
original budget estimates. As the actual cost is now substantially more than 
budgeted negotiations are on-going with Homes England to see if they would 
provide any additional grant funding. A verbal update on progress will be 
provided at the Cabinet (Housing) Committee meeting.

12.2 23 of the homes will be of shared ownership leasehold tenure, which is 
projected to initially contribute £2,162,000 of sales income.

12.3 The total net capital funding requirement for the Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA) is therefore £16, 769,151 less HE grant of £3,003,000. The scheme 
was approved via the HRA Budget 2019/20 & Business Plan report CAB3111 
(HSG), 30th January 2019 with an approved total scheme cost of £15,970,000. 
The updated total scheme cost for the Valley scheme will be included in the 
next HRA Budget paper scheduled for June 2019.

13 Financial Viability

13.1 Using the Council’s viability criteria for benchmarking new build schemes the 
market valuation exceeds the build costs with a positive Net Present Value 
(NPV) of £169,741 at year 39. A summary is provided in Appendix 2 of the 
report

14 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

14.1 When the initial Tender was returned significantly over budget various cost 
reduction options were considered. This involved excluding certain phases of 
the development where construction costs were particularly high. However, 
this did not help with the scheme viability as these phases contained the 
majority of the houses which provide higher rent levels and market values. 
Whilst excluding individual phases would reduce the overall capital funding 

Page 15



CAB3112(HSG)

requirement there would also be a reduced grant made available from Homes 
England to take into account. 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:-

Previous Committee Reports:-

CAB 2973(HSG) The Valley, Stanmore, Approval of Outline Business Case and 
Procurement Process, 4 October 2017

Other Background Documents:-

None

APPENDICES:

Exempt Appendix 1 - Tender Report, The Valley

Exempt Appendix 2 - Summary viability assessment

Page 16



CAB3141(HSG)
CABINET (HOUSING) COMMITTEE

REPORT TITLE: WINCHESTER CITY COUNCIL SELF-BUILD AND CUSTOM 
BUILD REGISTER

20 MARCH 2019

REPORT OF PORTFOLIO HOLDER: LEADER WITH PORTOLIO FOR HOUSING -
Cllr Caroline Horrill 

Contact Officer:  Mark Maitland    Tel No: 01962 848518 Email 
mmaitland@winchester.gov.uk 

WARD(S):  ALL AREAS OF THE WINCHESTER DISTRICT OUTSIDE OF THE 
SOUTH DOWNS NATIONAL PARK (SDNP) AREA

PURPOSE

To propose the introduction of a Local Connection Test to the application process for 
the Self Build & Custom Build Register.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

1. That the introduction of a Local Connection Test for the Self Build & Custom 
Build Register application process be approved.

2. That the Corporate Head of Housing be given delegated authority to agree the 
Local Connection criteria.

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



CAB3141(HSG)

IMPLICATIONS:

1 COUNCIL STRATEGY OUTCOME 

1.1 Delivering Quality Housing Options – making the proposed changes to the 
Self Build & Custom Build Register will provide more accurate information 
regarding the need for self build development in Winchester and therefore 
assist in providing different housing options for our residents.

2 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

2.1 None  - no charge is currently made in respect of applications to the register

3 LEGAL AND PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 The Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Regulations 2016  enable the 
Council to introduce a ‘local connection test’  whereby only individuals who 
meet such conditions as the Council considers demonstrate that the individual 
has sufficient connection with the authorities area are eligible. .

4 WORKFORCE IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 Within existing resources 

5 PROPERTY AND ASSET IMPLICATIONS

5.1 None 

6 CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION 

6.1 Internal discussions have been held with colleagues from Planning, Strategic 
Planning, Legal and Housing. Contact with the SDNP and also research of 
other LA Self Build application process.

6.2 The Council is required to publicise any criteria imposed pursuant to the 
regulations

7 ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS

7.1 None

8 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSEMENT 

8.1 None

9 DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

9.1 A full assessment was carried when the original register was established and 
the recommended changes in the report have no additional data protection 
implications.

Page 18



CAB3141(HSG)

10 RISK MANAGEMENT 

10.1 The main identified risk is linked to the reputation of the Council in operating 
in a fair and transparent manner. 

Risk Mitigation Opportunities
Property

Community Support
Timescales To start April 2019 Information gathered will 

help inform Local Plan 
review

Project capacity Within existing resources
Financial / VfM Within existing resources
Legal The regulations enable 

this change to be made.
Creation of a two part 
register will better reflect 
the need for Self-build 
development.

Innovation
Reputation Ensure all applicants on 

the register understand 
changes being considered 

Meeting the Government’s 
aim of boosting housing 
supply by actively 
supporting self build and 
custom building.

Other

11 SUPPORTING INFORMATION:

11.1 In accordance with the Government’s aim to boost housing supply by 
supporting self-build and custom building, the Self-build and Custom 
Housebuilding Act 2015 places a duty on certain public authorities to keep a 
register of individuals and associations of individuals who wish to acquire 
serviced plots of land to bring forward self-build and custom housebuilding 
projects. Winchester City Council’s Self-Build and Custom Build Register was 
launched on the 1st April 2016 and took the form of an open register, which 
enables anyone meeting the basic criteria to register.

11.2 The South Downs National Park (SDNP) also has a Self Build Register which 
covers the whole of the National Park area, a substantial part of which falls 
into the Winchester District. Our register therefore only covers the areas of the 
Winchester District, that fall outside of the SDNP. However, this fact was not 
made clear during the application process, nor on the Self Build page of our 
website. 

11.3 Since the introduction of the register there are a total of 298 people listed, 
55% of whom live outside the Winchester District. The register is broken down 
into Base Periods as detailed in the following table. The City Council has an 
obligation to provide the same number of ‘Planning Permissions’ for self build 

Page 19



CAB3141(HSG)

development as there are people on our register within 3 years of the end of 
the relevant Base Period. Meeting the requirement for Base Period 1 by 30th 
October 2019 is not an issue as we have already achieved 69 based on the 
number of CIL exemptions awarded to date. However, meeting the 
requirement for Base Period 2 will be much more of a challenge as the 
additional number of people on the register, combined with the difficulty self-
builders have acquiring suitable plots means that it will be very difficult to 
reach this target.

11.4 The Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 allows for Local 
Authorities to apply a ‘Local Connection Test’ which then enables the register 
to be split into two parts. Part 1 would list those that pass the Local 
Connection Test and Part 2 would be for those who meet the basic criteria for 
being registered, but do not meet the Local Connection criteria. The 
advantage of doing this is that in meeting our obligation for ‘Planning 
Permissions’ for Self Build we would only need to consider those that are in 
Part 1 of the register.

11.5 In agreeing to support the Local Connection Test, members are also asked to 
approve the Local Connection Criteria as detailed in Appendix 1. The criteria 
essentially falls into 4 categories:

 Residency Connection – the length of time the applicant has lived in an 
area of the Winchester District which falls outside of the SDNP

 Family Connection – the applicant has a close family member that lives 
in an area (Town/Village/Parish) that falls within the Winchester 
District, but outside that of the SDNP

 Employment Connection – the applicant works in an area 
(Town/Village/Parish) that falls within the Winchester District, but 
outside that of the SDNP

 Armed Forces Connection – the applicant is a serving member of the 
regular armed forces of the Crown or has left the armed forces within a 
period of 5 Years.

11.5 The inclusion of a Local Connection Test for the Self Build application process 
will also enable us to obtain more accurate information on the need for Self 
Build plots in our District and help to inform processes such as the review of 
the Local Plan. 

12 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

12.1 Maintaining the register as it is has been considered and rejected as it will do 
nothing to help meet or reduce our target for ‘Planning Permissions’.

Base Period Date Range Number on Register
Base Period 1 1st April 2016 to 30th October 2016 57
Base Period 2 31st October 2016 to 30th October 2017 124
Base Period 3 31st October 2017 to 30th October 2018 91

31st October 2018 onwards 26

Page 20



CAB3141(HSG)

12.2 Aligning our register more closely to the SDNP application process was also 
considered. However the SDNP do not currently have a ‘Local Connection 
Test’ as part of their application process either.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:-

Previous Committee Reports:-

Other Background Documents:-

APPENDICES:

Appendix 1 – Self Build Local Connection Criteria.

Page 21



APPENDIX 1 - CAB3141(HSG)

Self Build – Local Connection Criteria

The Self build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 enables relevant authorities to include a 
‘Local Connection Test’ in their application process. Following a review of the Self Build 
register the ‘Local Connection Criteria will fall into the following categories:

 Residency connection
 Family connection
 Employment connection
 Armed Forces connection

The applicant will be deemed as having met the Local Connection Test if the applicant 
meets one or more of the above connections as detailed below at the time of application.

Residency
 That the applicant is living in an area (Town/Village/Parish) that falls within the Winchester 
District, but outside that of the South Downs National Park (SDNP) and has done so for a 
period of at least 3 years.

Family
That the applicant has a close family member that lives in an area (Town/Village/Parish) that 
falls within the Winchester District, but outside that of the South Downs National Park 
(SDNP) and has done so for a period of at least 3 years.
A person shall be taken to be a close family member of another’s family if he or she is the 
spouse civil partner, mother, father, sister, brother, daughter, son, grandparent or grandchild 
of that other person or if he or she ordinarily resides with that other person as husband or 
wife or partner but without being legally married to (or in a civil partnership with) that person.
Family includes adopted and step relatives.

Employment
That the applicant works in an area (Town/Village/Parish) that falls within the Winchester 
District, but outside that of the South Downs National Park (SDNP) and has done so for a 
period of at least 5 years

Armed Forces
That the applicant is a serving member of the regular armed forces of the Crown (within the 
meaning of section 374 of the Armed Forces Act 2006(a) or has left the armed forces within 
a period of 5 Years.

Page 22



CAB3139(HSG)
CABINET (HOUSING) COMMITTEE

CABINET

REPORT TITLE: ESTABLISHING THE WINCHESTER HOUSING COMPANY 

CABINET (HOUSING) COMMITTEE - 20 MARCH 2019

CABINET – 25 MARCH 2019

REPORT OF PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Leader with Portfolio for Housing Services – 
Cllr. Caroline Horrill 

Contact Officer:  Richard Burden Tel No: 01962 848136
Email rburden@winchester.gov.uk 

WARD(S):  ALL

PURPOSE

This report proposes the establishment of a wholly owned housing company to 
deliver units for sub-market  rent on non-secure tenancies and provide shared 
ownership accommodation, initially through the partnered home purchase scheme 
(PHP).. The company will function as an ethical landlord, providing a more secure 
offer than the private rented sector currently delivers.

In accordance with CAB2990(HSG) 22 November 2017, the proposal is supported 
by a detailed five-year business plan. 

RECOMMENDATIONS:

That Cabinet (Housing) Committee support the following recommendations to 
Cabinet:

1. That the proposal to establish a company limited by shares and wholly owned 
by the Council to deliver and manage sub market rented and shared 
ownership accommodation, including the partnered home purchase scheme 
(PHP)  be approved.  A further report will be made to Cabinet and Council 
before a final decision is made to establish the company and start trading.

Page 23

Agenda Item 8



CAB3139(HSG)

2. That a combined loan facility & equity shareholding of £10m from the General 
Fund be approved  to support the company’s development activity.. This was 
previously approved in CAB2990 (HSG) 22 November 2017 as a £10m loan 
facility only.  

3. That the five year business plan be approved.

4. That the Corporate Head of Housing in consultation with the Corporate Head 
of Resources, the Leader with Portfolio for Housing Services and the Portfolio 
Holder for Finance be authorised to:

a)  Determine the balance of commercial and other loans to equity with 
due regard to state aid regulations.

b)  Determine the terms of all loans.

5. That the proposed governance structure be approved, and:

a)  Full Council assumes the role of shareholder of the company.

b)  A Shareholder Advisory Group of three elected members of the 
Cabinet Housing Committee be established to advise the Council in its 
capacity as shareholder with senior officers to attend as required. 

c)  That the appointment of one elected member and two senior officers to 
the board of directors, namely The Chair of the relevant Policy Committee, 
The Corporate Head of Housing and the Head of New Homes Delivery, be 
approved. 

 
6. That delegated authority be given to the Chief Executive in consultation with 

the Leader with Portfolio for Housing Services to appoint additional 
independent directors at a future date should the need arise.

7. That authority to finalise the articles of association and shareholder 
agreement be delegated to the Corporate Head of Housing in consultation 
with the Legal Services Manager, the Leader with Portfolio for Housing 
Services and external legal advisors.

8. To ensure that the company is able to commence trading from October 2019, 
that authority to undertake all remaining steps detailed at table 5 be delegated 
to the Corporate Head of Housing in consultation with the Legal Services 
Manager and Leader with Portfolio for Housing Services.  

Page 24



CAB3139(HSG)

9. That delegated authority be given to the Corporate Head of Housing in 
consultation with the Corporate Head of Resources, the Leader with Portfolio 
for Housing Services and Portfolio Holder for Finance to:

a) Determine allocation of capital funds to be released for Partnered Home 
Purchase scheme (PHP) subject to the review of the first 10 properties 
included within the PHP pilot scheme

Page 25



CAB3139(HSG)

IMPLICATIONS:

1 COUNCIL STRATEGY OUTCOME 

1.1 The provision of good quality housing with a range of tenures is a strategic 
priority for the Council. Whilst it can deliver new housing for rent & shared 
ownership through the Housing Revenue Account (HRA), other options such 
as sub-market private rent can only be provided through a company structure.

1.2 Establishing a housing company to deliver housing tenures not permitted 
through HRA regulations is also a key priority for the Housing Strategy 2017-
18 to 2022-23, and it will support priorities in the emerging Preventing 
Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2019-24.

1.3 This report sets out proposals for establishing a housing company to address 
this issue.  It should be noted that the core focus of the Council’s development 
programme will remain on affordable/social rented units through the HRA.  
There are significant efficiencies achieved by building through the HRA and 
any housing company development will always make up less than 10% of the 
overall programme.  However, the fact that it allows properties to be let on 
alternative tenures will help to establish mixed and sustainable communities 
and to address key aspirations of the Council’s Housing Strategy.

2 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

Funding

2.1 CAB2990(HSG) approved the inclusion of a £10m loan facility from the 
general fund to support the housing company development in the capital 
strategy. Legal advice  has stated that the intention of providing 100% debt 
funding to the housing company would be in breach of state aid rules and that 
any funding should be a mix of debt & equity. This is on the basis that external 
lenders rarely provide 100% debt funding, allowing for headroom on the value 
of loans issued.

2.2 Legal advice has suggested that the mix of debt to equity could range from 
65% to 80%. For the purposes of the business plan I have assumed a level of 
75% debt to 25% equity, resulting in a £7.5m loan facility  and a £2.5m equity 
shareholding from  the General Fund. 

The housing company will be required to consider annual dividend payments 
out of retained profits to the General Fund as a return on the equity 
shareholding. This will be subject to profits being available for distribution.

2.3 If the creation of the housing company is approved, the intention is for the  
equity shareholding from the General Fund to be made available at the point 
the housing company begins trading. This would provide an injection of 
working capital to cover any initial up front costs, and fund the first housing 
development, potentially at Rowlings Road.

Page 26



CAB3139(HSG)

Partnered Home Purchase Scheme (PHP)

2.4 The PHP scheme was created by the Council in 2018 to provide the option of 
open market shared ownership to homebuyers. The scheme was initially 
launched as a pilot with funding to provide up to 10 homes. To date there 
have been 3 property completions.

2.5 The PHP scheme is currently administered as a General Fund activity and the 
proposal is to move the scheme into the housing company once the company 
has commenced trading. The funding has already been made available in the 
General Fund, so it will require a transfer of the existing properties to the 
housing company once it commences trading. Further transfers will then 
follow once the purchase price of future properties has been determined.

2.6 Each PHP proposal is individually appraised, with its suitability and financial 
viability assessed before a purchase is considered. 

Tax 

2.7 Trowers & Hamlins have provided tax advice on the implications for the 
housing company (see exempt Appendix B) covering corporation tax 
(including chargeable gains), VAT, SDLT, Construction Industry Scheme 
(CIS), PAYE and tax on enveloped dwellings (ATED). 

2.8 Corporation tax will be payable at 17% from April 2020 on any taxable profits 
arising in the housing company, subject to available reliefs. The intention is for 
the housing company to return a small taxable profit each year, sufficient to 
cover all operational expenditure and a dividend payment on the equity 
shareholding provided by the General Fund. Sub market rents and the letting 
of shared ownership properties would be treated as trading activities. The 
staircasing on future shared ownership properties would be also be treated as 
a trading activity, with any profits arising being chargeable to corporation tax.

2.9 Chargeable gains could arise on future property sales within the housing 
company (selling value less original acquisition price). This would normally 
result in a taxable receipt for corporation tax purposes. It is however possible 
to create a chargeable gains group between two or more entities, in this case 
the Council and the housing company. The effect of having a chargeable 
gains group is that for tax purposes the selling price of the property is deemed 
to be the same as the original acquisition price resulting in no gain or loss. 
The true gain would still be recognised as an accounting profit but there will 
be no corporation tax arising.

2.10 VAT will be an additional cost for the housing company on operational costs 
including internal recharges and external supplies. Where the Council 
provides services to the housing company, including management costs &  
maintenance costs, it will need to charge 20% VAT on all standard rated 

Page 27



CAB3139(HSG)

supplies. It may be possible to reduce the VAT charge on internal 
management costs from the Council by having joint contracts for employees 
who provide the services to the housing company.

2.11 Provided that land has not been opted to tax for VAT purposes, the transfer of 
land would be an exempt supply with no VAT being charged on the transfer. If 
land has been opted to tax it means that 20% VAT will be added to the land 
price on purchase which could impact on the financial viability of a scheme. 
There are mitigations available to recover any VAT incurred on options to tax 
(see tax advice section 4.7)

2.12 If the housing company enters into a design and build contract either with the 
HRA or an external contractor, the supply of completed dwellings can be zero 
rated for VAT purposes. This means that the resulting price to the housing 
company will not include any VAT cost.

2.13 Tax advice has suggested that it would be preferable for the housing 
company to have a separate VAT registration from the Council. The Council is 
generally able to recover VAT in full on expenditure incurred provided that it 
meets the de-minimus test on exempt supplies as outlined in section 4.5 of 
the tax advice. If the housing company was included within the existing 
Council VAT registration it could have an adverse impact on the recovery of 
VAT as the de-minimus limit could be exceeded. This will require more 
specialist advice before the housing company commences trading to ensure 
that the correct VAT structure is in place.

2.14 Stamp Duty Land Tax (SDLT) will be applicable on purchases of land from 
external developers, although there are some reliefs available to mitigate this 
cost. (See section 5.5 of the tax advice). Similar to the rules on chargeable 
gains, it is possible to create an SDLT group between two or more entities. On 
this basis any transfers of land between the Council and the housing company 
will be free of any SDLT. There is however a clawback of the relief claimed if 
the land leaves the SDLT group within three years of the original transfer.

2.15 The housing company needs to register for the Construction Industry Scheme 
(CIS), as outlined in section 6 of the tax advice. If the housing company 
contracts directly with the Council for construction services no CIS payments 
will be payable, but if it contracts externally it may need to account for CIS 
deductions.

2.16 PAYE will not be applicable to the housing company whilst it has no 
employees or paid directors. 

2.17 Tax on enveloped dwellings (ATED), as outlined in section 7 of the tax advice 
is not applicable to local authorities or companies that are wholly owned by 
the local authority.

Page 28



CAB3139(HSG)

Business Plan

2.18 A summary of the business plan is shown at exempt Appendix A1. The 
business case demonstrates that the housing company can generate a small 
annual profit over the first 5 years of trading with the acquisition of 48 units for 
sub market rent and 10 properties for partnered home purchase..  In year 1 
the housing company generates a profit after corporation tax & dividends of 
£13k, this increases to £58k by year 5.

2.19 The plan assumes acquiring land at market value, although the intention will 
be to acquire land at less than market value from the HRA whenever possible.

2.20 The plan also assumes the housing company contracts with the HRA to carry 
out the build phase of new developments.

2.21 The intention is for the Council to provide the management and maintenance 
support at an agreed price plus VAT at the standard 20%. 

2.22 The plan proposes a £7.5m loan and £2.5m equity shareholding from the 
General Fund. The  assumed cost of borrowing on a fixed rate loan is 5.19%. 
The actual cost of borrowing in the General Fund is lower, but as the loan 
needs to be an “arms length” commercial transaction the rate needs to be at 
market rate.

2.23 Dividend payments to the General Fund in relation to the £2.5m equity 
shareholding will be considered by the Board of Directors each year. The  
annual dividend payment of £28k per annum is assumed to be 1.10% of the 
£2.5m equity shareholding.

2.24 The graph at Exempt Appendix A2 demonstrates that the equity investment 
of £2.5m is more than matched by the accumulated surplus of £2.7m over the 
same period. The intention will be to repay the equity shareholding by year 20 
either from retained profits or the surplus arising from the sale of partnered 
home purchase properties.

2.25 Properties are assumed to increase in value by 3.00% per annum but this 
could fluctuate dependent on market conditions. 

2.26 Key assumptions are listed below:

Assumptions Comments
Land Market Value (MV) Acquire HRA land at less 

than MV when possible.
Build Costs Development Cost Build contract with HRA
Rental Income 90% of Market Rent
Management Costs £300 per unit Including VAT
Maintenance Costs £563 per unit Including VAT 

(Response & Voids)

Page 29



CAB3139(HSG)

Voids & Bad Debts 2.10% For the plan duration
RPI 3.00% For the plan duration
CPI 3.00% (CPI plus 1.00%) For the plan duration
Market Value 
appreciation

3.00% For the plan duration

Interest Costs 5.19% Including debt 
management costs

Depreciation Nil Properties held for 
investment purposes

Dividends 1.10% of the £2.5m 
equity shareholding 
annually until repaid

Board of Directors to 
consider approval each 
year from retained 
profits.

2.27 The plan assumes acquiring 58 units over the first 5 years of trading, 
commencing with a 7 unit scheme at Rowlings Road. 

2.28 The balance sheet demonstrates a gradual increase in the revaluation reserve 
to £1,555k by year 5. Net current assets include an operational cash balance 
at the end of each year.

3 LEGAL AND PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 

Legal

3.1 The Council has commissioned specific legal advice from Trowers & Hamlins 
to ensure any vehicle it establishes is in accordance with its legal powers; and 
that any future operation is compliant with those powers.  The advice is 
included within exempt  Appendix C. 

3.2 The Council's power to set up and use a company or similar structure to 
support housing delivery depends on whether it is reasonable to use section 
1of the Localism Act 2011 and not section 9 of the Housing Act 1985. 

3.3 Legal advice has confirmed that since flexibility of tenure cannot be provided 
within the HRA, the establishment of a company is justifiable and that the 
Council is entitled to rely on section 1 of the Localism Act. 

3.4 Section 1 of the Localism Act provides local authorities with the power to do 
anything an individual may do, subject to a number of limitations. This is 
referred to as the general power of competence. A local authority may 
exercise the "general power of competence" for its own purpose, for a 
commercial purpose and/or for the benefit of others. In exercising this power, 
it is still subject to its general duties (such as the fiduciary duties it owes to its 
rate and local tax payers) and to the public law requirements to exercise its 
powers for a proper purpose.

Page 30



CAB3139(HSG)

3.5 Legal advice has been obtained on the powers to transfer land to the 
company, powers to fund the company and state aid compliance. 

3.6 Further legal guidance will be required to finalise the memorandum and 
articles of association, shareholder agreement, loan facility agreement and 
service level agreement. These requirements are addressed further at section 
13 of this paper under “Governance arrangements”, and also at table 5.

Land acquisition

3.7 The housing company can acquire land from the HRA, General Fund or 
externally from a land owner or property developer. Legal advice has been 
obtained on the statutory implications on the transfer of land, particularly 
general consents and the impact of state aid. 

3.8 The legal advice also outlines whether it is possible to transfer land from the 
HRA or General Fund at less than market value, identified as being at an 
“undervalue”. 

3.9 Land acquired externally will be at market rate and subject to stamp duty land 
tax (SDLT), although some reliefs are available to negate the tax impact.

3.10 Land acquired from the General Fund will generally be at market value, as 
under Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972, land transfers must be 
at “best consideration”. There is however a general consent available where 
the value of any "discount" is £2 million or less and the disposal is likely to 
contribute to the achievement of well-being.

3.11 Land acquired from the HRA at market value is not deemed to provide 
financial assistance and will not therefore contravene state aid rules. 

3.12 It is however possible, under Section 32 of the Housing Act 1985 to transfer 
vacant HRA land at any price and to any body, permitting transfers at an 
undervalue. However, for a transfer to be at an undervalue it must meet the 
conditions outlined in Section 25 of the 1988 Housing Act or have specific 
Secretary of State approval.

The conditions outlined in Section 25 of the Act are as follows:

a) Any accommodation on the land must be vacant and to be demolished.
b) The disposal must be by way of freehold or a lease of at least 99 years.
c) The terms of the disposal must require the development to complete 

within 3 years of the disposal.
d) The Council may not be entitled under an arrangement made on or 

before the disposal to manage or maintain the completed units.

3.13 Under Section 32 of the 1985 Act, a transfer of habitable dwellings from the 
HRA to the housing company must be at market value and is limited to five 
dwellings in any financial year. 

Page 31



CAB3139(HSG)

3.14 For any HRA land transfer where Secretary of State approval is sought, the 
application can take a minimum of 2-3 weeks but there is little evidence of 
councils seeking this approval. 

Construction of properties

3.15 Given that each land transfer needs to be considered individually from a legal 
and tax perspective and that the transfer of completed properties from the 
HRA is limited to five units in every financial year, the construction element of 
each property needs to be separated from the land element.

3.16 As it would be considered to be a “connected company” under EU 
procurement rules, the housing company is able to contract directly with the 
Council without the need for a tender process. The housing company would 
be able to contract directly with an external contractor, but this would require a 
tender process subject to the public contract regulations 2015. Given that the 
housing company will have no trading history for at least the first year, it may 
need to seek a parent guarantee from the Council (see Section 6.3 of the 
legal advice).As the intended accommodation is sub-market rent and shared 
ownership a full parent guarantee is possible.

3.17 Contracting directly with the HRA would allow mixed or single tenure 
developments to be procured through the HRA with the price paid by the 
housing company being at “development cost”. Build contracts could be 
structured to allow for an initial deposit and stage payments, or a final 
payment on completion. 

Procurement

3.18 Legal advice has confirmed that since the purpose of establishing the 
company is to deliver  sub-market accommodation with some shared 
ownership  rather than generate a financial return, it will be a contracting 
authority and will therefore fall outside the scope of EU procurement rules.

3.19 This being so, it will also be a “Teckal” subsidiary, allowing land to be 
transferred from the Council without breaching EU procurement regulations.

3.20 A “Teckal” subsidiary is a wholly owned company that benefits from contracts 
for works and services as a contracting authority with a public sector 
organisation, in this case the Council. As the housing company is being 
created to provide sub-market & shared ownership accommodation to meet 
the needs of the community, it is not deemed to have a commercial character 
and therefore qualifies as a “Teckal” subsidiary.

 

Page 32



CAB3139(HSG)

4 WORKFORCE IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 Once established, it is proposed that the marginal capacity of existing teams 
is utilised to support company activity, charged on a cost recovery contractual 
basis at “arms length”, thus generating additional income for the Council. 

4.2 As development activity will initially be marginal to the Council’s overall 
development programme, no additional resource requirements are anticipated 
at this stage.

4.3 Additional resources may be required as the housing company development 
activity increases over time. This may include employing direct staff to support 
the delivery of new properties and housing company administration 

4.4 It is proposed that one member and two senior officers be appointed to the 
Board of Directors of the company, although these positions will not be 
subject to any additional remuneration. It is also proposed that there be 
flexibility to appoint additional independent (and possibly remunerated) 
directors to the Board should the need arise at a future date. These proposals 
are outlined in further detail at table 4.

5 PROPERTY AND ASSET IMPLICATIONS

5.1 The preferred option would be for the housing company to acquire land from 
the HRA or General Fund and have a separate build contract with the HRA to 
construct the properties. The housing company could acquire land from 
external developers, but there could be SDLT and VAT issues associated with 
the final cost. When appropriate, the housing company could lease properties 
from both the General Fund and the HRA for short to medium term use, and 
potentially purchase properties on the open market.

6 CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION 

6.1 Officers have liaised with other local authorities who have established housing 
companies for a range of purposes.

6.2 A draft of this report was presented to TACT on 13 March 2019. A verbal 
summary of the feedback received will be provided for Cabinet (HSG) on 20 
March 2019. 

7 ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS

7.1 As with all new build developments, properties will be built to a high standard 
and take into consideration the impact of the carbon footprint.

8 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

8.1 All policies & procedures (for example lettings policies and rental agreements) 
will be subject to a full equality impact assessment.

Page 33



CAB3139(HSG)

9 DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT

9.1 None required.

10 RISK MANAGEMENT 

10.1 Key risks and opportunities are outlined below.

Risk Mitigation Opportunities
Property

High and increasing 
development costs 

Property values fall

Insufficient demand

Detailed financial 
modelling based on 
current building costs and 
stress-testing for price 
increases

The business plan 
recognises that short-term 
fluctuations in the market 
are inevitable but the 
outturn is positive over the 
length of the plan 

Evidence shows that there 
is a consistent demand for 
both sub and market 
rented housing

Property values increase

Flexibility and control of 
the portfolio

Community Support Capacity to meet housing 
need that cannot be met 
by the HRA.

Raising standards in the 
private rented sector.

Create different private 
rented sector 
opportunities.

Timescales

Company not established 
in time to support specific 
initiatives

Resources are in place to 
ensure that the company 
is established in time to 
commence trading from 
October 2019. This 
reflects the expected 
availability of new units 

Page 34



CAB3139(HSG)

Risk Mitigation Opportunities
and maintains consistency 
between Council and 
company accounting 
periods.

Project capacity N/A
Financial / VfM

Investment doesn’t 
achieve projected return

Tax rules/HMRC 
requirements impacting 
on viability

Future Government 
restrictions on prudential 
borrowing rules to limit 
allowable public sector 
debt

Brexit - worst case 
scenario: shortage of 
labour and materials; 
house price downturn; 
rising demand for 
affordable housing as a 
result of rising 
unemployment; rising 
cost of loan finance

Detailed financial 
modelling
Careful selection of 
investment option
Sensitivity analysis 
completed

Additional tax advice is 
detailed   at exempt 
Appendix B

All developments will be 
viable individually and not 
dependent upon profits 
from future developments

Potential development is 
continually appraised 
before contracts are 
agreed and any loan 
finance is based on fixed 
rates

Generation of profit on 
disposal

Maximise available tax 
relief where possible

Legal

Council acting outside of 
relevant powers

External specialist legal 
advice on company 
governance is detailed  at 
exempt Appendix C

Innovation N/A
Reputation 

Reputational impact of 
the company on the 
council

A marketing and 
communications plan will 
be developed to ensure 

Page 35



CAB3139(HSG)

Risk Mitigation Opportunities

Reputational damage in 
the event of the 
company's failure

that the branding and 
image of the company 
contribute to a positive 
view of the Council's 
services.
Risks reviewed and 
evaluated on a regular 
basis as part of corporate 
risk management process

Other N/A

11 SUPPORTING INFORMATION:

Background

11.1 There are currently circa 150 housing companies in England, with numbers 
expected to reach 200 by 2020. The majority are wholly Council owned and 
provide affordable housing as well as market housing for rent and sale.

11.2 The development of new affordable housing is a key priority in the Council 
strategy and the new build programme has been extended following the 
removal of the HRA debt cap in October 2018. In addition, the Council 
continues to work closely with its housing association partners to maximise 
their development activity within the district.

11.3 However, the Council Strategy 2018-2020 also recognises the need for a 
range of affordable housing products such as sub-market  rent, which can 
only be delivered through a company structure.

11.4 In March 2017 CAB2911 (HSG) set out an initial proposal to establish a dual 
structure with a development company for commercial activity, a subsidiary 
charitable arm to deliver some affordable housing with affordable rented units 
being purchased by the Council through the HRA.  However, financial 
modelling demonstrated that this would be significantly more expensive (as a 
result of commercial borrowing costs, land transfer costs and tax implications) 
than the current approach where the HRA directly funds development on 
Council land.

11.5 In November 2017 CAB2990 (HSG) proposed the creation of a single  
company limited by shares to focus specifically on the delivery of sub-market 
rent. Since these proposals were approved, costs have changed and it has 
been necessary to revisit the original financial modelling. 

11.6 This exercise has shown that the single company model remains the most 
appropriate way to deliver what will always be a marginal element of the 
Council’s development programme., 

Page 36



CAB3139(HSG)

12 LOCAL CONTEXT

12.1 Demand for affordable housing in the Winchester district is considerable. As 
at 31 January 2019, 1,352 households were registered for affordable housing 
in the district. The numbers of bedrooms required is illustrated below, at table 
1.

Table 1: Housing register by bedroom
1 bedroom 2 bedroom 3 bedroom 4 bedroom

845 338 132 37

12.2 With the demand for affordable housing continuing to rise, for many 
households accommodation in the private rented sector is the only option. 
Whilst the Council’s duty to homeless applicants can be discharged by 
identifying suitable private rented housing, there is little available 
accommodation within Local Housing Allowance rates. Consequently, very 
few homeless households and those facing homelessness have secured 
private rented accommodation (see table 2, below).  Deposits and letting fees 
add to the cost of this option, making it unaffordable for many.

Table 2: Homelessness and the private rented sector 
2016-17 2017-18

Advice & prevention – total households 841 743
Households securing private rented accommodation 
(with and without landlord incentives)

41 55

Homelessness duties discharged – total households 43 39
Households securing private rented  accommodation 4 6

12.3 The Council’s “City Lets” initiative works with private landlords by offering a 
lettings and management service.  It has been successful, with 33 
participating landlords currently providing 42 tenancies. However, many 
landlords are unwilling to let properties at or near local housing allowance 
levels and so it will be challenging to expand the scheme much further.

12.4 Not only does Winchester’s private rented sector present significant 
challenges for both low income and vulnerable households, landlords are 
struggling too. A 2018 study by Gatehouse Bank1 concluded that the city’s 
buy-to-let landlords are the most vulnerable in Britain comparing affordability 
with available property lettings. 

12.5 The study considered 122 cities and towns, taking into account how long 
available rentals had been on the market and the affordability ratio between 
average salaries and rents. Table 3 illustrates the top five locations where 
landlords were found to be most at risk to these issues..

1 https://gatehousebank.com/news/467-62404-winchester-is-home-to-the-most-vulnerable-landlord

Page 37

https://gatehousebank.com/news/467-62404-winchester-is-home-to-the-most-vulnerable-landlord


CAB3139(HSG)

Table 3:  L Ratio of lettings to affordability
Rank City/town Average 

property price
Average time on 

market (days)
Annual 

yield (%)
Rent as a % 
of earnings

1 Winchester £549,706 248 3.1 56.2
2 Cambridge £446,938 251 2.9 45.6
3 Chichester £413,343 269 3.3 45.8
4 Warwick £353,197 254 3.0 40
5 Reading £415,192 230 3.4 46.7

12.6 The company will function as a flexible and ethical landlord offering 
accommodation to households who are or threatened with homelessness, and 
those who may be unknown to the Housing service thus far but nonetheless 
struggle to access suitable private sector accommodation. 

12.7 There are also those households who would be owner occupiers but lack the 
capital required for a deposit. They too are confined to the private rented 
sector for the foreseeable future, and depend upon longer-term sub and 
market rented properties. A 2017 study by Savills2  found that to ensure 40% 
of households could afford a home in the south-east, the property must cost 
no more than £250,000. However, according to property web site Rightmove, 
in 2018 the average detached property in Winchester sold for £808,015, with 
attached properties and flats selling for £498,643 and £319,751 respectively.

12.8 As a landlord, the company will also have flexibility to waive letting fees and 
deposits, potentially letting longer assured shorthold tenancies than the six 
months that are routinely offered by letting agents.

13 GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS

13.1 A proposal for the company name will be included within the final report 
seeking approval to set the company up.

13.2 A number of governance structures have been considered and the structure 
outline below in table 4 is considered to be the most appropriate. This view is 
underpinned by legal advice. 
Table 4: Proposed governance structure

Function:
Sole Shareholder Full Council taking decisions reserved for the 

shareholder in the company’s articles of association 
and shareholder agreement. This would include 
approval of the annual company budget and 
business plan.

Shareholder advisory 
group

Three elected members, appointed to oversee 
company activity, provide strategic guidance and 

2 https://www.theguardian.com/business/2017/oct/04/affordable-homes-south-east-england-savills-
report

Page 38

https://www.theguardian.com/business/2017/oct/04/affordable-homes-south-east-england-savills-report
https://www.theguardian.com/business/2017/oct/04/affordable-homes-south-east-england-savills-report


CAB3139(HSG)

advise full council in its capacity as shareholder. 
Senior officers to attend the group meetings as 
required. A draft Terms of Reference for this group 
is attached at Appendix D.

Board of directors For the management of the day to day affairs of the 
company. One elected member and two senior 
officers appointed by the Chief Executive in 
consultation with the Leader with flexibility to appoint 
additional independent directors at a future date 
should the need arise. The elected member and 
senior officers will not receive any additional 
remuneration for this responsibility. 

Operational 
management team

For the discharge of any duties and responsibilities 
delegated by the Board of Directors.  

13.3 In addition to the Council’s role as shareholder, it will oversee company 
activity as both a funder (decisions around loans to the company and the 
terms thereof); and as a land and property owner (decisions around making 
land and/or properties available to the company).

13.4 All limited companies must have articles of association. “Model” articles of 
association are the standard default article a company can use, and are 
prescribed by the Companies (Model Articles) Regulations 2008. It is 
proposed that the example attached at Appendix E, which is the current 
model articles for companies incorporated on or after 28 April 2013, be used 
as a base template for further discussion with legal advisors.

13.5 Although not required by company law, a shareholder agreement will be put in 
place to identify how the Council and the company will interact.  It will 
establish the balance between the company’s ethical commercial flexibility 
and the council’s strategic oversight as sole owner. Unlike the articles of 
association the shareholder agreement is a private contract between the 
Council and the company and it will not be registered at Companies House.

14 NEXT STEPS

14.1 A summary of next steps is set out below, at table 5. It is envisaged that the 
company will commence trading from October 2019.

Table 5: Next steps

Action
Finalise governance agreements:
 Memorandum and articles of association
 Shareholder agreement
 Shareholder advisory group Terms of Reference
 Service level agreement for services provided by the General Fund and 

HRA
 Funding agreements (loan facility and equity)

Page 39



CAB3139(HSG)

Additional legal work:
 Development agreement with HRA – Likely to be a standard JCT 

contract (so only if required)
 Application for Secretary of State consent (if required)
Appointment of:

 Shareholder Advisory Group
 Board of directors/operational management team
 Company secretary
 External auditor
Agree company name, branding and logo
HMRC registration for all relevant taxes
Directors’ insurance
Company bank account
Revisit business plan prior to commencement of trading
Develop operational policies:
 Allocations and lettings 
 Housing management 
 Property services
 Procurement procedures
 Accounting

Accounting, systems and schemes of delegation

15 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

15.1 CAB2911 (HSG) considered the more complex option of dual company 
structures, one a company limited by guarantee and one in the form of a 
community benefit society.  Whilst the business case for the dual structure 
was marginally more positive than the single company structure, set up, 
management and governance would be more complex and with little or no 
immediate benefits to the Council. 

15.2 As a result, CAB2990 (HSG) recommended that initially the Council establish 
a single company structure. This would not preclude the establishment of a 
subsidiary charitable company at a later date to exploit potential tax 
advantages.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:-

Previous Committee Reports:-

CAB2990 (HSG) 22 November 2017 – Establishing Local Housing Companies to 
Support New Homes Development

CAB 2911 (HSG) 22 March 2017 – Establishing Local Housing Companies to 
Support New Homes Development

Page 40



CAB3139(HSG)

CAB 2626 (HSG) 1 October 2014 – Options for Increasing the Supply of Affordable 
Housing

Other Background Documents:-

None.

APPENDICES:

Exempt Appendix A1 – Housing Company Business Plan Report March 2019

Exempt Appendix A2 – Housing Company Business Plan - Graphs

Exempt Appendix B –  Tax Advice Note (22 February 2019)

Exempt Appendix C –Legal Advice Note (22 February 2019)

Appendix D – Draft Terms of Reference for Shareholder Advisory Group

Appendix E – Template for model Articles of Association

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Appendix D

Shareholder Advisory Group - Terms of Reference

Purpose of the Shareholder Advisory Group

The purpose of the Shareholder Advisory Group (herein referred to as ‘the Group’) is
to provide strategic guidance to the directors of the housing company (herein
referred to as ‘the Company’), including informing the Company of priorities of the 
shareholder (the council) that are pertinent to the operation and future development 
of the company.

The Group will review the Company’s business plan at least annually

The meetings of the Group will provide an opportunity for the Company to bring to
the shareholder’s attention emerging issues or opportunities for new business
ventures.

Membership and meetings of the Shareholder Advisory Group

The Shareholder Advisory Group is an integral part of the governance arrangements
for the housing company. 

The Shareholder Advisory Group will consist of three elected members of
Winchester City Council identified by the Leader of the Council. 

Ad hoc meetings of the Shareholder Advisory Group can be called at other times by
notice in writing from at least two members of the Shareholder Advisory Group.

Meetings of the Group shall be held at the guildhall or any other venue as agreed by
the majority of members of the Group.

Members of the Group may invite officers of the council to attend meetings to
provide performance updates.

The Shareholder Advisory Group is not a constituted committee of Winchester City
Council. There is no requirement to meet in public or publish any notes or minutes.

Members of the Shareholder Advisory Group will treat information shared by the
Company as being commercially sensitive and therefore it will not be shared beyond
the Group without the permission of the Company’s directors. 

A Shareholder Advisory Group Meeting shall be held no less than every quarter. The
Board of Directors will report to the Shareholder Advisory Group at each Shareholder
Advisory Group Meeting on the following items:

Page 43



2

 financial performance in the previous quarter and year-to-date against the 
annual budget and latest business plan

 performance against agreed key performance indicators
 any matters previously agreed between the Company and the Shareholder
 other matters that arise from time-to-time. 

A meeting of the Shareholder Advisory Group shall only be quorate if at least two of
the Group’s members are present. 

Unless otherwise agreed by a majority of members, not less than five business
days notice shall be given to each of the members of the Shareholder Advisory
Group, and to the Directors of the Company, for a meeting to be held. An agenda
will be issued in advance of any meeting indicating the matters to be
discussed, together with any relevant papers for discussion and approval.

In addition, the Company will supply the members of the Shareholder Advisory
Group with all information and data reasonably requested by the Shareholder
Advisory Group to enable it to reach an informed judgment on any matter put before 
the Group.

The Company will ensure that at least one director shall attend each meeting
of the Shareholder Advisory Group who is qualified to address the issues included
on the agenda.

The Shareholder Advisory Group shall hold an advisory role to the Shareholder, that
is full Council, when it is making decisions on matters reserved for the Shareholder
(or the Shareholder Representative if and when deemed appropriate by the
Shareholder). 

Chairing of each meeting of the Shareholder Advisory Group Meetings shall be
determined by the members of the Shareholder Advisory Group present at that
meeting. 

If a Shareholder Advisory Group member works for, is commissioned by or has any
interest in the Company, the member shall declare this fact to the Shareholder
Advisory Group immediately.

Review of these Terms of Reference

The Terms of Reference will be reviewed by the Shareholder Advisory Group and
the Company’s representatives on an annual basis. 

Amendments may be agreed by the Shareholder Advisory Group and the Company
Representatives, so long as no amendment contradicts the Shareholder

Page 44



3

agreement. Amendments to the Shareholder Agreement may be determined by the
shareholder, that is, through a meeting of the Council.

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix E

              SCHEDULE 1 Regulation 2

MODEL ARTICLES FOR PRIVATE COMPANIES LIMITED 
BY SHARES

INDEX TO THE ARTICLES

PART 1
INTERPRETATION AND LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

1. Defined terms
2. Liability of members

PART 2
DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ POWERS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

3. Directors’ general authority
4. Shareholders’ reserve power
5. Directors may delegate
6. Committees

DECISION-MAKING BY DIRECTORS

7. Directors to take decisions collectively
8. Unanimous decisions
9. Calling a directors’ meeting
10. Participation in directors’ meetings
11. Quorum for directors’ meetings
12. Chairing of directors’ meetings
13. Casting vote
14. Conflicts of interest
15. Records of decisions to be kept
16. Directors’ discretion to make further rules

APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS

17. Methods of appointing directors
18. Termination of director’s appointment
19. Directors’ remuneration
20. Directors’ expenses

PART 3
SHARES AND DISTRIBUTIONS

SHARES
21. All shares to be fully paid up
22. Powers to issue different classes of share
23. Company not bound by less than absolute interests

Page 47



24. Share certificates
25. Replacement share certificates
26. Share transfers
27. Transmission of shares
28. Exercise of transmittees’ rights
29. Transmittees bound by prior notices

DIVIDENDS AND OTHER DISTRIBUTIONS

30. Procedure for declaring dividends
31. Payment of dividends and other distributions
32. No interest on distributions
33. Unclaimed distributions
34. Non-cash distributions
35. Waiver of distributions

CAPITALISATION OF PROFITS

36. Authority to capitalise and appropriation of capitalised sums

PART 4
DECISION-MAKING BY SHAREHOLDERS

ORGANISATION OF GENERAL MEETINGS
37. Attendance and speaking at general meetings
38. Quorum for general meetings
39. Chairing general meetings
40. Attendance and speaking by directors and non-shareholders
41. Adjournment

VOTING AT GENERAL MEETINGS

42. Voting: general
43. Errors and disputes
44. Poll votes
45. Content of proxy notices
46. Delivery of proxy notices
47. Amendments to resolutions

PART 5
ADMINISTRATIVE ARRANGEMENTS

48. Means of communication to be used
49. Company seals
50. No right to inspect accounts and other records
51. Provision for employees on cessation of business

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE

52. Indemnity
53. Insurance

Page 48



PART 1

INTERPRETATION AND LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

Defined terms
1. In the articles, unless the context requires otherwise—

“articles” means the company’s articles of association;

“bankruptcy” includes individual insolvency proceedings in a jurisdiction other 

than England and Wales or Northern Ireland which have an effect similar to that 

of bankruptcy;

“chairman” has the meaning given in article 12;

“chairman of the meeting” has the meaning given in article 39;

“Companies Acts” means the Companies Acts (as defined in section 2 of the 

Companies Act 2006), in so far as they apply to the company;

“director” means a director of the company, and includes any person occupying 

the position of director, by whatever name called;

“distribution recipient” has the meaning given in article 31;

“document” includes, unless otherwise specified, any document sent or supplied 

in electronic form;

“electronic form” has the meaning given in section 1168 of the Companies Act 

2006;

“fully paid” in relation to a share, means that the nominal value and any premium 

to be paid to the company in respect of that share have been paid to the company;

“hard copy form” has the meaning given in section 1168 of the Companies Act 

2006;

“holder” in relation to shares means the person whose name is entered in the 

register of

members as the holder of the shares;

“instrument” means a document in hard copy form;

“ordinary resolution” has the meaning given in section 282 of the Companies Act 

2006;

“paid” means paid or credited as paid;

“participate”, in relation to a directors’ meeting, has the meaning given in article 

10;

Page 49



“proxy notice” has the meaning given in article 45;

“shareholder” means a person who is the holder of a share;

“shares” means shares in the company;

“special resolution” has the meaning given in section 283 of the Companies Act 

2006;

“subsidiary” has the meaning given in section 1159 of the Companies Act 2006;

“transmittee” means a person entitled to a share by reason of the death or 

bankruptcy of a

shareholder or otherwise by operation of law; and

“writing” means the representation or reproduction of words, symbols or other 

information in a visible form by any method or combination of methods, whether 

sent or supplied in electronic form or otherwise.

Unless the context otherwise requires, other words or expressions contained in these 
articles bear the same meaning as in the Companies Act 2006 as in force on the date 
when these articles become binding on the company.

Liability of members

2.   The liability of the members is limited to the amount, if any, unpaid on the 
shares held by them.

PART 2

DIRECTORS
DIRECTORS’ POWERS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Directors’ general authority

3. Subject to the articles, the directors are responsible for the management of the 
company’s business, for which purpose they may exercise all the powers of the 
company.

Shareholders’ reserve power

4.—(1) The shareholders may, by special resolution, direct the directors to take, or 
refrain from taking, specified action.

(2) No such special resolution invalidates anything which the directors have done 
before the passing of the resolution.

Directors may delegate

5.—(1) Subject to the articles, the directors may delegate any of the powers which are 
conferred on them under the articles—

Page 50



(a) to such person or committee;
(b) by such means (including by power of attorney);
(c) to such an extent;
(d) in relation to such matters or territories; and
(e) on such terms and conditions;

as they think fit.

(2) If the directors so specify, any such delegation may authorise further delegation of 
the
directors’ powers by any person to whom they are delegated.
(3) The directors may revoke any delegation in whole or part, or alter its terms and 
conditions.

Committees

6.—(1) Committees to which the directors delegate any of their powers must follow 
procedures which are based as far as they are applicable on those provisions of the 
articles which govern the taking of decisions by directors.

(2) The directors may make rules of procedure for all or any committees, which 
prevail over rules derived from the articles if they are not consistent with them.

DECISION-MAKING BY DIRECTORS

Directors to take decisions collectively

7.—(1) The general rule about decision-making by directors is that any decision of the 
directors must be either a majority decision at a meeting or a decision taken in  
accordance with article 8.
(2) If—

(a) the company only has one director, and
(b) no provision of the articles requires it to have more than one director,

the general rule does not apply, and the director may take decisions without regard to 
any of the provisions of the articles relating to directors’ decision-making.

Unanimous decisions

8.—(1) A decision of the directors is taken in accordance with this article when all 
eligible directors indicate to each other by any means that they share a common view 
on a matter.
(2) Such a decision may take the form of a resolution in writing, copies of which have 
been signed by each eligible director or to which each eligible director has otherwise 
indicated agreement in writing.
(3) References in this article to eligible directors are to directors who would have been 
entitled to vote on the matter had it been proposed as a resolution at a directors’ 
meeting.
(4) A decision may not be taken in accordance with this article if the eligible directors 
would not have formed a quorum at such a meeting.

Calling a directors’ meeting

Page 51



9.—(1) Any director may call a directors’ meeting by giving notice of the meeting to 
the
directors or by authorising the company secretary (if any) to give such notice.
(2) Notice of any directors’ meeting must indicate—

(a) its proposed date and time;
(b) where it is to take place; and
(c) if it is anticipated that directors participating in the meeting will not be in the 
same place, how it is proposed that they should communicate with each other 
during the meeting.

(3) Notice of a directors’ meeting must be given to each director, but need not be in 
writing.
(4) Notice of a directors’ meeting need not be given to directors who waive their 
entitlement to notice of that meeting, by giving notice to that effect to the company 
not more than 7 days after the date on which the meeting is held. Where such notice is 
given after the meeting has been held, that does not affect the validity of the meeting, 
or of any business conducted at it.

Participation in directors’ meetings

10.—(1) Subject to the articles, directors participate in a directors’ meeting, or part of 
a
directors’ meeting, when—

(a) the meeting has been called and takes place in accordance with the articles, 
and
(b) they can each communicate to the others any information or opinions they 
have on any particular item of the business of the meeting.

(2) In determining whether directors are participating in a directors’ meeting, it is 
irrelevant where any director is or how they communicate with each other.
(3) If all the directors participating in a meeting are not in the same place, they may 
decide that the meeting is to be treated as taking place wherever any of them is.

Quorum for directors’ meetings

11.—(1) At a directors’ meeting, unless a quorum is participating, no proposal is to be 
voted on, except a proposal to call another meeting.
(2) The quorum for directors’ meetings may be fixed from time to time by a decision 
of the directors, but it must never be less than two, and unless otherwise fixed it is 
two.
(3) If the total number of directors for the time being is less than the quorum required, 
the
directors must not take any decision other than a decision—

(a) to appoint further directors, or
(b) to call a general meeting so as to enable the shareholders to appoint further 
directors.

Chairing of directors’ meetings

12.—(1) The directors may appoint a director to chair their meetings.
(2) The person so appointed for the time being is known as the chairman.
(3) The directors may terminate the chairman’s appointment at any time.

Page 52



(4) If the chairman is not participating in a directors’ meeting within ten minutes of 
the time at which it was to start, the participating directors must appoint one of 
themselves to chair it.

Casting vote

13.—(1) If the numbers of votes for and against a proposal are equal, the chairman or 
other director chairing the meeting has a casting vote.
(2) But this does not apply if, in accordance with the articles, the chairman or other 
director is not to be counted as participating in the decision-making process for 
quorum or voting purposes.

Conflicts of interest

14.—(1) If a proposed decision of the directors is concerned with an actual or 
proposed
transaction or arrangement with the company in which a director is interested, that 
director is not to be counted as participating in the decision-making process for 
quorum or voting purposes.
(2) But if paragraph (3) applies, a director who is interested in an actual or proposed 
transaction or arrangement with the company is to be counted as participating in the 
decision-making process for quorum and voting purposes.
(3) This paragraph applies when—

(a) the company by ordinary resolution disapplies the provision of the articles 
which would otherwise prevent a director from being counted as participating in 
the decision-making process;
(b) the director’s interest cannot reasonably be regarded as likely to give rise to 
a conflict of interest; or
(c) the director’s conflict of interest arises from a permitted cause.

(4) For the purposes of this article, the following are permitted causes—
(a) a guarantee given, or to be given, by or to a director in respect of an 
obligation incurred by or on behalf of the company or any of its subsidiaries;
(b) subscription, or an agreement to subscribe, for shares or other securities of 
the company or any of its subsidiaries, or to underwrite, sub-underwrite, or 
guarantee subscription for any such shares or securities; and
(c) arrangements pursuant to which benefits are made available to employees 
and directors or former employees and directors of the company or any of its 
subsidiaries which do not provide special benefits for directors or former 
directors.

(5) For the purposes of this article, references to proposed decisions and decision-
making
processes include any directors’ meeting or part of a directors’ meeting.
(6) Subject to paragraph (7), if a question arises at a meeting of directors or of a 
committee of directors as to the right of a director to participate in the meeting (or part 
of the meeting) for voting or quorum purposes, the question may, before the 
conclusion of the meeting, be referred to the chairman whose ruling in relation to any 
director other than the chairman is to be final and conclusive.
(7) If any question as to the right to participate in the meeting (or part of the meeting) 
should arise in respect of the chairman, the question is to be decided by a decision of 
the directors at that meeting, for which purpose the chairman is not to be counted as 

Page 53



participating in the meeting (or that part of the meeting) for voting or quorum 
purposes.

Records of decisions to be kept

15. The directors must ensure that the company keeps a record, in writing, for at least 
10 years from the date of the decision recorded, of every unanimous or majority 
decision taken by the directors.

Directors’ discretion to make further rules

16. Subject to the articles, the directors may make any rule which they think fit about 
how they take decisions, and about how such rules are to be recorded or 
communicated to directors.

APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS

Methods of appointing directors

17.—(1) Any person who is willing to act as a director, and is permitted by law to do 
so, may be appointed to be a director—

(a) by ordinary resolution, or
(b) by a decision of the directors.

(2) In any case where, as a result of death, the company has no shareholders and no 
directors, the personal representatives of the last shareholder to have died have the 
right, by notice in writing, to appoint a person to be a director.
(3) For the purposes of paragraph (2), where 2 or more shareholders die in 
circumstances
rendering it uncertain who was the last to die, a younger shareholder is deemed to 
have survived an older shareholder.

Termination of director’s appointment

18. A person ceases to be a director as soon as—
(a) that person ceases to be a director by virtue of any provision of the Companies 
Act 2006 or is prohibited from being a director by law;
(b) a bankruptcy order is made against that person;
(c) a composition is made with that person’s creditors generally in satisfaction of 
that
person’s debts;
(d) a registered medical practitioner who is treating that person gives a written 
opinion to the company stating that that person has become physically or 
mentally incapable of acting as a director and may remain so for more than three 
months;
(e) [paragraph omitted pursuant to The Mental Health (Discrimination) Act 
2013]
(f) notification is received by the company from the director that the director is 
resigning from office, and such resignation has taken effect in accordance with its 
terms.

Page 54



Directors’ remuneration

19.—(1) Directors may undertake any services for the company that the directors 
decide.
(2) Directors are entitled to such remuneration as the directors determine—

(a) for their services to the company as directors, and
(b) for any other service which they undertake for the company.

(3) Subject to the articles, a director’s remuneration may—
(a) take any form, and
(b) include any arrangements in connection with the payment of a pension, 
allowance or gratuity, or any death, sickness or disability benefits, to or in respect 
of that director.

(4) Unless the directors decide otherwise, directors’ remuneration accrues from day to 
day.
(5) Unless the directors decide otherwise, directors are not accountable to the 
company for any remuneration which they receive as directors or other officers or 
employees of the company’s subsidiaries or of any other body corporate in which the 
company is interested.

Directors’ expenses

20. The company may pay any reasonable expenses which the directors properly incur 
in
connection with their attendance at—

(a) meetings of directors or committees of directors,
(b) general meetings, or
(c) separate meetings of the holders of any class of shares or of debentures of the 
company, or otherwise in connection with the exercise of their powers and the 
discharge of their responsibilities in relation to the company.

PART 3

SHARES AND DISTRIBUTIONS
SHARES

All shares to be fully paid up

21.—(1) No share is to be issued for less than the aggregate of its nominal value and 
any
premium to be paid to the company in consideration for its issue.
(2) This does not apply to shares taken on the formation of the company by the 
subscribers to the company’s memorandum.

Powers to issue different classes of share

Page 55



22.—(1) Subject to the articles, but without prejudice to the rights attached to any 
existing share, the company may issue shares with such rights or restrictions as may 
be determined by ordinary resolution.
(2) The company may issue shares which are to be redeemed, or are liable to be 
redeemed at the option of the company or the holder, and the directors may determine 
the terms, conditions and manner of redemption of any such shares.

Company not bound by less than absolute interests

23. Except as required by law, no person is to be recognised by the company as 
holding any share upon any trust, and except as otherwise required by law or the 
articles, the company is not in any way to be bound by or recognise any interest in a 
share other than the holder’s absolute ownership of it and all the rights attaching to it.

Share certificates

24.—(1) The company must issue each shareholder, free of charge, with one or more 
certificates in respect of the shares which that shareholder holds.
(2) Every certificate must specify—

(a) in respect of how many shares, of what class, it is issued;
(b) the nominal value of those shares;
(c) that the shares are fully paid; and
(d) any distinguishing numbers assigned to them.

(3) No certificate may be issued in respect of shares of more than one class.
(4) If more than one person holds a share, only one certificate may be issued in 
respect of it.
(5) Certificates must—

(a) have affixed to them the company’s common seal, or
(b) be otherwise executed in accordance with the Companies Acts.

Replacement share certificates

25.—(1) If a certificate issued in respect of a shareholder’s shares is—
(a) damaged or defaced, or
(b) said to be lost, stolen or destroyed, that shareholder is entitled to be issued 
with a replacement certificate in respect of the same shares.

(2) A shareholder exercising the right to be issued with such a replacement 
certificate—

(a) may at the same time exercise the right to be issued with a single certificate or 
separate certificates;
(b) must return the certificate which is to be replaced to the company if it is 
damaged or defaced; and
(c) must comply with such conditions as to evidence, indemnity and the payment 
of a
reasonable fee as the directors decide.

Share transfers

Page 56



26.—(1) Shares may be transferred by means of an instrument of transfer in any usual 
form or any other form approved by the directors, which is executed by or on behalf 
of the transferor.
(2) No fee may be charged for registering any instrument of transfer or other 
document relating to or affecting the title to any share.
(3) The company may retain any instrument of transfer which is registered.
(4) The transferor remains the holder of a share until the transferee’s name is entered 
in the register of members as holder of it.
(5) The directors may refuse to register the transfer of a share, and if they do so, the 
instrument of transfer must be returned to the transferee with the notice of refusal 
unless they suspect that the proposed transfer may be fraudulent.

Transmission of shares

27.—(1) If title to a share passes to a transmittee, the company may only recognise 
the
transmittee as having any title to that share.
(2) A transmittee who produces such evidence of entitlement to shares as the directors 
may properly require—

(a) may, subject to the articles, choose either to become the holder of those shares 
or to have them transferred to another person, and
(b) subject to the articles, and pending any transfer of the shares to another 
person, has the same rights as the holder had.

(3) But transmittees do not have the right to attend or vote at a general meeting, or 
agree to a proposed written resolution, in respect of shares to which they are entitled, 
by reason of the holder’s death or bankruptcy or otherwise, unless they become the 
holders of those shares.

Exercise of transmittees’ rights

28.—(1) Transmittees who wish to become the holders of shares to which they have 
become entitled must notify the company in writing of that wish.
(2) If the transmittee wishes to have a share transferred to another person, the 
transmittee must execute an instrument of transfer in respect of it.
(3) Any transfer made or executed under this article is to be treated as if it were made 
or
executed by the person from whom the transmittee has derived rights in respect of the 
share, and as if the event which gave rise to the transmission had not occurred.
Transmittees bound by prior notices

29. If a notice is given to a shareholder in respect of shares and a transmittee is 
entitled to those shares, the transmittee is bound by the notice if it was given to the 
shareholder before the transmittee’s name has been entered in the register of 
members.

DIVIDENDS AND OTHER DISTRIBUTIONS

Procedure for declaring dividends

Page 57



30.—(1) The company may by ordinary resolution declare dividends, and the 
directors may decide to pay interim dividends.
(2) A dividend must not be declared unless the directors have made a 
recommendation as to its amount. Such a dividend must not exceed the amount 
recommended by the directors.
(3) No dividend may be declared or paid unless it is in accordance with shareholders’ 
respective rights.
(4) Unless the shareholders’ resolution to declare or directors’ decision to pay a 
dividend, or the terms on which shares are issued, specify otherwise, it must be paid 
by reference to each shareholder’s holding of shares on the date of the resolution or 
decision to declare or pay it.
(5) If the company’s share capital is divided into different classes, no interim dividend 
may be paid on shares carrying deferred or non-preferred rights if, at the time of 
payment, any preferential dividend is in arrear.
(6) The directors may pay at intervals any dividend payable at a fixed rate if it appears 
to them that the profits available for distribution justify the payment.
(7) If the directors act in good faith, they do not incur any liability to the holders of 
shares
conferring preferred rights for any loss they may suffer by the lawful payment of an 
interim dividend on shares with deferred or non-preferred rights.

Payment of dividends and other distributions

31.—(1) Where a dividend or other sum which is a distribution is payable in respect 
of a share, it must be paid by one or more of the following means—

(a) transfer to a bank or building society account specified by the distribution 
recipient either in writing or as the directors may otherwise decide;
(b) sending a cheque made payable to the distribution recipient by post to the 
distribution recipient at the distribution recipient’s registered address (if the 
distribution recipient is a holder of the share), or (in any other case) to an address 
specified by the distribution recipient either in writing or as the directors may 
otherwise decide;
(c) sending a cheque made payable to such person by post to such person at such 
address as the distribution recipient has specified either in writing or as the 
directors may otherwise decide; or
(d) any other means of payment as the directors agree with the distribution 
recipient either in writing or by such other means as the directors decide.

(2) In the articles, “the distribution recipient” means, in respect of a share in respect of 
which a dividend or other sum is payable—

(a) the holder of the share; or
(b) if the share has two or more joint holders, whichever of them is named first in 
the register of members; or
(c) if the holder is no longer entitled to the share by reason of death or 
bankruptcy, or
otherwise by operation of law, the transmittee.

No interest on distributions

32. The company may not pay interest on any dividend or other sum payable in 
respect of a share unless otherwise provided by—

Page 58



(a) the terms on which the share was issued, or
(b) the provisions of another agreement between the holder of that share and the 
company.

Unclaimed distributions

33.—(1) All dividends or other sums which are—
(a) payable in respect of shares, and
(b) unclaimed after having been declared or become payable,
may be invested or otherwise made use of by the directors for the benefit of the 
company until claimed.

(2) The payment of any such dividend or other sum into a separate account does not 
make the company a trustee in respect of it.
(3) If—

(a) twelve years have passed from the date on which a dividend or other sum 
became due for payment, and
(b) the distribution recipient has not claimed it,

the distribution recipient is no longer entitled to that dividend or other sum and it 
ceases to remain owing by the company.

Non-cash distributions

34.—(1) Subject to the terms of issue of the share in question, the company may, by 
ordinary resolution on the recommendation of the directors, decide to pay all or part 
of a dividend or other distribution payable in respect of a share by transferring non-
cash assets of equivalent value (including, without limitation, shares or other 
securities in any company).
(2) For the purposes of paying a non-cash distribution, the directors may make 
whatever
arrangements they think fit, including, where any difficulty arises regarding the 
distribution—

(a) fixing the value of any assets;
(b) paying cash to any distribution recipient on the basis of that value in order to 
adjust the rights of recipients; and
(c) vesting any assets in trustees.

Waiver of distributions

35. Distribution recipients may waive their entitlement to a dividend or other 
distribution
payable in respect of a share by giving the company notice in writing to that effect, 
but if—

(a) the share has more than one holder, or
(b) more than one person is entitled to the share, whether by reason of the death 
or
bankruptcy of one or more joint holders, or otherwise, 

the notice is not effective unless it is expressed to be given, and signed, by all the 
holders or persons otherwise entitled to the share.

Page 59



CAPITALISATION OF PROFITS

Authority to capitalise and appropriation of capitalised sums

36.—(1) Subject to the articles, the directors may, if they are so authorised by an 
ordinary
resolution—

(a) decide to capitalise any profits of the company (whether or not they are 
available for distribution) which are not required for paying a preferential 
dividend, or any sum standing to the credit of the company’s share premium 
account or capital redemption reserve; and
(b) appropriate any sum which they so decide to capitalise (a “capitalised sum”) 
to the persons who would have been entitled to it if it were distributed by way of 
dividend (the “persons entitled”) and in the same proportions.

(2) Capitalised sums must be applied—
(a) on behalf of the persons entitled, and
(b) in the same proportions as a dividend would have been distributed to them.

(3) Any capitalised sum may be applied in paying up new shares of a nominal amount 
equal to the capitalised sum which are then allotted credited as fully paid to the 
persons entitled or as they may direct.
(4) A capitalised sum which was appropriated from profits available for distribution 
may be applied in paying up new debentures of the company which are then allotted 
credited as fully paid to the persons entitled or as they may direct.
(5) Subject to the articles the directors may—

(a) apply capitalised sums in accordance with paragraphs (3) and (4) partly in one 
way and partly in another;
(b) make such arrangements as they think fit to deal with shares or debentures 
becoming distributable in fractions under this article (including the issuing of 
fractional certificates or the making of cash payments); and
(c) authorise any person to enter into an agreement with the company on behalf of 
all the persons entitled which is binding on them in respect of the allotment of 
shares and debentures to them under this article.

PART 4

DECISION-MAKING BY SHAREHOLDERS
ORGANISATION OF GENERAL MEETINGS

Attendance and speaking at general meetings

37.—(1) A person is able to exercise the right to speak at a general meeting when that 
person is in a position to communicate to all those attending the meeting, during the 
meeting, any information or opinions which that person has on the business of the 
meeting.
(2) A person is able to exercise the right to vote at a general meeting when—

(a) that person is able to vote, during the meeting, on resolutions put to the vote 
at the meeting, and 

Page 60



(b) that person’s vote can be taken into account in determining whether or not 
such
resolutions are passed at the same time as the votes of all the other persons 
attending the meeting.

(3) The directors may make whatever arrangements they consider appropriate to 
enable those attending a general meeting to exercise their rights to speak or vote at it.
(4) In determining attendance at a general meeting, it is immaterial whether any two 
or more members attending it are in the same place as each other.
(5) Two or more persons who are not in the same place as each other attend a general 
meeting if their circumstances are such that if they have (or were to have) rights to 
speak and vote at that meeting, they are (or would be) able to exercise them.

Quorum for general meetings

38. No business other than the appointment of the chairman of the meeting is to be 
transacted at a general meeting if the persons attending it do not constitute a quorum.

Chairing general meetings

39.—(1) If the directors have appointed a chairman, the chairman shall chair general 
meetings if present and willing to do so.
(2) If the directors have not appointed a chairman, or if the chairman is unwilling to 
chair the meeting or is not present within ten minutes of the time at which a meeting 
was due to start—

(a) the directors present, or
(b) (if no directors are present), the meeting,

must appoint a director or shareholder to chair the meeting, and the appointment of 
the chairman of the meeting must be the first business of the meeting.
(3) The person chairing a meeting in accordance with this article is referred to as “the 
chairman of the meeting”.

Attendance and speaking by directors and non-shareholders

40.—(1) Directors may attend and speak at general meetings, whether or not they are
shareholders.
(2) The chairman of the meeting may permit other persons who are not—

(a) shareholders of the company, or
(b) otherwise entitled to exercise the rights of shareholders in relation to general 
meetings,

to attend and speak at a general meeting.

Adjournment

41.—(1) If the persons attending a general meeting within half an hour of the time at 
which the meeting was due to start do not constitute a quorum, or if during a meeting 
a quorum ceases to be present, the chairman of the meeting must adjourn it.
(2) The chairman of the meeting may adjourn a general meeting at which a quorum is 
present if—

(a) the meeting consents to an adjournment, or

Page 61



(b) it appears to the chairman of the meeting that an adjournment is necessary to 
protect the safety of any person attending the meeting or ensure that the business 
of the meeting is conducted in an orderly manner.

(3) The chairman of the meeting must adjourn a general meeting if directed to do so 
by the meeting.
(4) When adjourning a general meeting, the chairman of the meeting must—

(a) either specify the time and place to which it is adjourned or state that it is to 
continue at a time and place to be fixed by the directors, and
(b) have regard to any directions as to the time and place of any adjournment 
which have been given by the meeting.

(5) If the continuation of an adjourned meeting is to take place more than 14 days 
after it was adjourned, the company must give at least 7 clear days’ notice of it (that 
is, excluding the day of the adjourned meeting and the day on which the notice is 
given)—

(a) to the same persons to whom notice of the company’s general meetings is 
required to be given, and
(b) containing the same information which such notice is required to contain.

(6) No business may be transacted at an adjourned general meeting which could not 
properly have been transacted at the meeting if the adjournment had not taken place.

VOTING AT GENERAL MEETINGS

Voting: general

42. A resolution put to the vote of a general meeting must be decided on a show of 
hands unless a poll is duly demanded in accordance with the articles.

Errors and disputes

43.—(1) No objection may be raised to the qualification of any person voting at a 
general
meeting except at the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the vote objected to is 
tendered, and every vote not disallowed at the meeting is valid.
(2) Any such objection must be referred to the chairman of the meeting, whose 
decision is final.

Poll votes

44.—(1) A poll on a resolution may be demanded—
(a) in advance of the general meeting where it is to be put to the vote, or
(b) at a general meeting, either before a show of hands on that resolution or 
immediately after the result of a show of hands on that resolution is declared.

(2) A poll may be demanded by—
(a) the chairman of the meeting;
(b) the directors;
(c) two or more persons having the right to vote on the resolution; or

Page 62



(d) a person or persons representing not less than one tenth of the total voting 
rights of all the shareholders having the right to vote on the resolution.

(3) A demand for a poll may be withdrawn if—
(a) the poll has not yet been taken, and
(b) the chairman of the meeting consents to the withdrawal.

(4) Polls must be taken immediately and in such manner as the chairman of the 
meeting directs.

Content of proxy notices

45.—(1) Proxies may only validly be appointed by a notice in writing (a “proxy 
notice”)
which—

(a) states the name and address of the shareholder appointing the proxy;
(b) identifies the person appointed to be that shareholder’s proxy and the general 
meeting in relation to which that person is appointed;
(c) is signed by or on behalf of the shareholder appointing the proxy, or is 
authenticated in such manner as the directors may determine; and
(d) is delivered to the company in accordance with the articles and any 
instructions contained in the notice of the general meeting to which they relate.

(2) The company may require proxy notices to be delivered in a particular form, and 
may
specify different forms for different purposes.
(3) Proxy notices may specify how the proxy appointed under them is to vote (or that 
the proxy is to abstain from voting) on one or more resolutions.
(4) Unless a proxy notice indicates otherwise, it must be treated as—

(a) allowing the person appointed under it as a proxy discretion as to how to vote 
on any ancillary or procedural resolutions put to the meeting, and
(b) appointing that person as a proxy in relation to any adjournment of the general 
meeting to which it relates as well as the meeting itself.

Delivery of proxy notices

46.—(1) A person who is entitled to attend, speak or vote (either on a show of hands 
or on a poll) at a general meeting remains so entitled in respect of that meeting or any 
adjournment of it, even though a valid proxy notice has been delivered to the 
company by or on behalf of that person.
(2) An appointment under a proxy notice may be revoked by delivering to the 
company a notice in writing given by or on behalf of the person by whom or on 
whose behalf the proxy notice was given.
(3) A notice revoking a proxy appointment only takes effect if it is delivered before 
the start of the meeting or adjourned meeting to which it relates.
(4) If a proxy notice is not executed by the person appointing the proxy, it must be 
accompanied by written evidence of the authority of the person who executed it to 
execute it on the appointor’s behalf.

Amendments to resolutions

47.—(1) An ordinary resolution to be proposed at a general meeting may be amended 
by ordinary resolution if—

Page 63



(a) notice of the proposed amendment is given to the company in writing by a 
person entitled to vote at the general meeting at which it is to be proposed not less 
than 48 hours before the meeting is to take place (or such later time as the 
chairman of the meeting may determine), and 
(b) the proposed amendment does not, in the reasonable opinion of the chairman 
of the meeting, materially alter the scope of the resolution.

(2) A special resolution to be proposed at a general meeting may be amended by 
ordinary resolution, if—

(a) the chairman of the meeting proposes the amendment at the general meeting 
at which the resolution is to be proposed, and
(b) the amendment does not go beyond what is necessary to correct a 
grammatical or other non-substantive error in the resolution.

(3) If the chairman of the meeting, acting in good faith, wrongly decides that an 
amendment to a resolution is out of order, the chairman’s error does not invalidate the 
vote on that resolution.

PART 5

ADMINISTRATIVE ARRANGEMENTS
Means of communication to be used

48.—(1) Subject to the articles, anything sent or supplied by or to the company under 
the articles may be sent or supplied in any way in which the Companies Act 2006 
provides for documents or information which are authorised or required by any 
provision of that Act to be sent or supplied by or to the company.
(2) Subject to the articles, any notice or document to be sent or supplied to a director 
in
connection with the taking of decisions by directors may also be sent or supplied by 
the means by which that director has asked to be sent or supplied with such notices or 
documents for the time being.
(3) A director may agree with the company that notices or documents sent to that 
director in a particular way are to be deemed to have been received within a specified 
time of their being sent, and for the specified time to be less than 48 hours.

Company seals

49.—(1) Any common seal may only be used by the authority of the directors.
(2) The directors may decide by what means and in what form any common seal is to 
be used.
(3) Unless otherwise decided by the directors, if the company has a common seal and 
it is
affixed to a document, the document must also be signed by at least one authorised 
person in the presence of a witness who attests the signature.
(4) For the purposes of this article, an authorised person is—

(a) any director of the company;
(b) the company secretary (if any); or
(c) any person authorised by the directors for the purpose of signing documents to 
which the common seal is applied.

Page 64



No right to inspect accounts and other records

50. Except as provided by law or authorised by the directors or an ordinary resolution 
of the company, no person is entitled to inspect any of the company’s accounting or 
other records or documents merely by virtue of being a shareholder.

Provision for employees on cessation of business

51. The directors may decide to make provision for the benefit of persons employed 
or formerly employed by the company or any of its subsidiaries (other than a director 
or former director or shadow director) in connection with the cessation or transfer to 
any person of the whole or part of the undertaking of the company or that subsidiary.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE

Indemnity

52.—(1) Subject to paragraph (2), a relevant director of the company or an associated 
company may be indemnified out of the company’s assets against—

(a) any liability incurred by that director in connection with any negligence, 
default, breach of duty or breach of trust in relation to the company or an 
associated company,
(b) any liability incurred by that director in connection with the activities of the 
company or an associated company in its capacity as a trustee of an occupational 
pension scheme (as defined in section 235(6) of the Companies Act 2006),
(c) any other liability incurred by that director as an officer of the company or an 
associated company.

(2) This article does not authorise any indemnity which would be prohibited or 
rendered void by any provision of the Companies Acts or by any other provision of 
law.
(3) In this article—

(a) companies are associated if one is a subsidiary of the other or both are 
subsidiaries of the same body corporate, and
(b) a “relevant director” means any director or former director of the company or 
an associated company.

Insurance

53.—(1) The directors may decide to purchase and maintain insurance, at the expense 
of the company, for the benefit of any relevant director in respect of any relevant loss.
(2) In this article—

(a) a “relevant director” means any director or former director of the company or 
an associated company,
(b) a “relevant loss” means any loss or liability which has been or may be 
incurred by a relevant director in connection with that director’s duties or powers 
in relation to the company, any associated company or any pension fund or 
employees’ share scheme of the company or associated company, and
(c) companies are associated if one is a subsidiary of the other or both are 
subsidiaries of the same body corporate.

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 67

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 75

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 77

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 81

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 95

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 97

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 99

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 101

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 115

By virtue of paragraph(s) 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 30 January 2019
	6 Final Business Approval – The Valley, New Homes Development (less exempt appendices)
	7 Winchester City Council Self Build and Custom Build Register
	8 Establishing the Winchester Housing Company (less exempt appendices)
	CAB3139(HSG) - Appendix D
	CAB3139(HSG) - Appendix E

	10 Hookpit Farm, Kings Worthy – New Homes Scheme
	CAB3147(HSG) - APDX 1
	CAB3147(HSG) - APDX 2

	11 Final Business Approval – The Valley, New Homes Development (exempt appendices)
	CAB3112(HSG) - exempt APPENDIX 2

	12 Establishing the Winchester Housing Company (exempt appendices)
	CAB3139(HSG) EXEMPT Appendix A2
	CAB3139(HSG) - APDX B exempt
	CAB3139(HSG) - APDX C exempt


